
AGENDA
Madison County Board of Zoning Appeals

Madison County Administrative Auditorium
414 North Main Street, Madison, VA 22727

Tuesday, May 20, 2025 - 7:00 p.m.
Call to Order

Adoption of Agenda

New Business

Adoption of previous minutes from February 18, 2025
Adoption of previous minutes from April 15,2025

Public Hearings
(Case Number V-5-20-25) Robert K Swab Jr & Edith L Swab, has requested a variance from 
Madison County Zoning Ordinance, Appendix 1, Article 4-4-1 “Structures shall be located 
50 feet or more from any street right-of-way which is 50 feet or greater in width, or 100 feet 
or more from the center line of any street right-of-way less than 50 feet in width.”. The 
applicant is requesting the setback be reduced from 100’ to 50’. The purpose of the request 
is to facilitate a new residence in a more desirable area of the subject property. The subject 

-20F, is zoned C-1 (Conservation), and 

Old Business
None

Adjournment



1 
 

 
 

MADISON COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 
MADISON VIRGINIA 22727 

 
The Madison County Board of Zoning Appeals met on Tuesday, January 21, 2025, at 7:00 p.m., in the Madison 
County Administrative Auditorium, 414 N. Main Street in the Town of Madison, Virginia. The board members 
present were Chairman Rodney Lillard, Members Sara Wills and Roger Clatterbuck, Secretary Janet Henshaw, 
Zoning Administrator Allen Nicholls and new members Kyle Knight and alternate Jessica Davis. Chairman Lillard 
called the meeting to order at 7:01 PM and determined there was a quorum, asked members if there were any 
additions or corrections to be made to the minutes from the previous meeting of January 21st, 2025. Member 
Clatterbuck moved to approve the minutes as submitted and member Wills seconded the motion. The minutes 
were approved by unanimous voice vote. Chairman Lillard welcomed new Members Kyle Knight who was 
sworn in and active and alternate Jessica Davis which we will be using her tonight and was also sworn in 
recently. 
 
New Business  
 
Adoption of previous minutes from January 21, 2024  
 
Public Hearings  
 
 (1) (Case Number V-2-18-25) Matthew Fant has requested variances from Madison County Ordinance, 
 Appendix 1, Article 4-4-1: “Structures shall be located 50 feet or more from any street right-of-way 
 which is 50 feet or greater in width, or 100 feet or more from the center line of any street right-of-way 
 less than 50 feet in width” and Madison County Ordinance, Appendix 2, Article 2-2-17: “Lot, Corner. A 
 lot abutting upon two or more roads at their intersection. The front of a corner lot shall be the side 
 where the driveway entrance is or will be located as approved by the Virginia Department of 
 Transportation. The setback on the side facing the side road shall be 35 feet or more for both main and 
 accessory buildings”. The variances are requested for property located at 3244 Ridgeview Rd and 
 further identified as Madison County Tax Map 32-162. The front setback is requested to be reduced 
 from 100’ to 34’, and the side setback is requested to be reduced from 35’ to 13’. The purpose of the 
 variance request is to allow a building that was recently constructed without a zoning permit, to 
 remain within the setback area.   
 
Chairman Lillard read two correspondence one from neighbor Mr. Hitt who has no problem with the garage. 
And the other is from Mr. Tickle who fully endorses the Madison County code of ordinances. 
 
Member Suzanne Long commented…is a friendly neighbor of Mr. Fant, not at this property but at another 
where Mr. Fant grew up off Leon Road and recuses herself.  
 



2 
 

Member Kyle Knight is also stepping down because of a conflict of interest. 
 
Jessica Davis will be used as an alternate and has agreed to do so. 
 
Applicant Matthew Fant commented…didn’t know he needed a permit. It was understood that a structure 
without power or water didn’t need a permit. 
 
Rodney Lillard questioned Matthew Fant’s reason for hardship either being slope or grandfathered lots, 
swamps, etc. 
 
Matthew Fant replied…if he put it any closer, he’d block his driveway or any further down water washes down 
the hill. 
 
Member Roger Clatterbuck advised in October to stop work that you were in violation of the ordinance, it also 
says that you were still working on it in December, so you didn’t stop working on it. 
 
Matthew Fant replied…that is false. 
 
Neighbor Marty Wheeler spoke up and said that he can confirm that he was not working on it in December. 
 
Roger Clatterbuck questioned if the concrete was poured after he was told to stop work? 
 
Matthew Fant replied…no sir. 
 
Marty Wheeler commented…I sold Matthew the property and I live straight across the road. 
 
Neighbor Collin Tucker commented…I am a neighbor, and he hasn’t been working on the building. 
 
Member Sarah Wills questioned…what is the foundation? 
 
Matthew Fant replied…it is concrete on the top, since the well was close, we didn’t want to do any digging. 
 
Sarah Wills questioned…was there an issue with the distance to the well? 
 
Rodney Lillard replied…yes. 
 
Zoning Administrator Allen Nicholls commented…at the time of the complaint me and staff went out to 
property and observed the building being constructed. At the time when first spoke to the applicant there was 
gravel on the ground. Asked Mr. Fant to come in and get permits. Advised the Building Official and he promptly 
issued a stop work order. Next visit construction continued to include pouring concrete and installation of 
windows. I would recommend the variance not be approved as the hardship was self-imposed, could have 
been avoided if the applicant had gotten the appropriate permits and the property is large enough. 
Matthew Fant replied…gravel was poured the same day in October. 
 



3 
 

Allen Nicholls commented…when we came out, there was no concrete, when we asked him to come and get 
permits. 
 
Rodney Lillard commented…when the Zoning Administrator comes out and tells you, that’s when you make a 
phone call to stop the concrete. 
 
Allen Nicholls commented…when we were on the site that day, there was no concrete/mixing truck onsite. No 
desire to go back and forth on the matter. 
 
Rodney Lillard asked if there were any comments or questions from BZA members. 
 
Rodney Lillard asked if there were any comments from the public. 
 
Marty Wheeler commented…there’s nowhere else to really put it. 
 
Rodney Lillard replied…I disagree, there are more options, opinion. 
 
Matthew Fant’s Mother Chrissy Jenkins commented…the letter was sent to her address and not Matthew’s. 
Understands permits were needed, however it is a simple pole shed, which does not have electricity or 
plumbing. My son has put $25,000 into this shed and now the county is telling him to take it down. That is a 
hardship for a 24-year-old person to just throw away. Questions the board if they had $25,000 to just throw 
away. 
 
Rodney Lillard responds and says…I wouldn’t make that mistake ma’am. 
 
Chrissy Jenkins comments…that the average person isn’t aware that permits are needed for a pole shed. There 
are a lot of buildings in this county that are a lot more extravagant than this one and they don’t have permits. 
 
Roger Clatterbuck questions…it is all 4 sides. 
 
Matthew Fant replied…it’s 3 sides. 
 
Chrissy Jenkins comments…it is no different than a run-in shed. 
 
Roger Clatterbuck commented…I don’t have concrete in my shed. 
 
Matthew Fant replied that most people do have concrete in their shed. 
 
Rodney Lillard replied…I disagree, most people don’t. We are not going to argue. 
 
Chrissy Jenkins commented…this was originally going to be used to put a couple 4H animals in for his brother. I 
am an average person and like many didn’t realize he needed a permit. He just built a house and every step of 
the way, he got permits. 
 



4 
 

Rodney Lillard questioned if there were any comments or questions from the BZA members. 
 
Member Jessica Davis questioned…why he didn’t get an Ag Exemption? 
 
Matthew Fant replied…was told I didn’t have enough acreage. I don’t have quite 5. 
 
Rodney Lillard questioned…3.8 acres, correct? 
 
Matthew Fant replied…yes. 
 
Rodney Lillard questioned…is there an Ag Exemption, Allen? 
 
Allen Nicholls replied…the Ag Exemption is under the Building Code; I don’t render opinions on that, that is in 
the Building Officials hands. I understand that this is not an Ag Exempt building, it is not used in active farming 
operations. 
 
Rodney Lillard commented…I would agree a 3-acre lot wouldn’t qualify but I was under the assumption that 
there were Ag Exemptions. 
 
Allen Nicholls replied…Ag Exempt buildings are exempt from inspections and requirements of the Building 
Code, but setbacks still apply. 
 
Continued discussions. 
 
Rodney Lillard questioned if there were any more questions or comments or motion. 
 
Sarah Wills made a motion to deny the variance. 
 
Roger Clatterbuck seconded the motion. 
 
Aye: (0). Abstain: Long and Knight. Absent: (0). Nay: Wills, Clatterbuck, Lillard, and Davis. 
 
Rodney Lillard commented…the motion has been denied. 
 
Matthew Fant stood up, raised a commotion and used profanity.  
 
Rodney Lillard commented…wanted to make everyone aware when making site visits, if 3 more people meet to 
discuss county matters then it is considered a committee meeting, if there are 2 then it is fine but if there are 3 
then it should be treated as a committee. If 3 or more members then must be advertised, minutes must be 
done, and the public must be invited. Try to make it a habit of only 2, don’t make it a group visit of 3 or more.  
Can be an issue, just want to make everyone aware. 
Roger Clatterbuck questioned…does he have any recourse? 
 



5 
 

Allen Nicholls replied…yes, he can take us to court. The State Code says I must send a letter, whatever I am 
required to disclose as far as an appeal I will do so. What I believe to be correct is he will have 30 days to 
appeal, if longer than his appeal is over.  
 
Rodney Lillard commented…I was on the Planning Commission for 17 years and have been on this board for 5 
years and during that time I have never been cussed at like that before at a public meeting. That is very 
disturbing! 
 
Allen Nicholls commented…we invited the deputy for a reason. 
 
Suzanne Long questioned…if he does appeal, he will need to take that down? 
 
Allen Nicholls replied…I am going to send a letter with instructions for him to do so. General attitude has been 
“make me do it.” Time to appeal had technically expired when he filled out his application. I would give anyone 
the same type of grace. 
 
Suzanne Long questioned…there is a concern about the residence on the site? 
 
Kyle Knight commented…there was no concrete truck. 
 
Allen Nicholls commented…we don’t get mad at people; we just work it out. 
 
Allen Nicholls commented…his zoning permit says for him to be 100 feet, if you notice his house is 78 feet. I 
tried to get him to remedy the building because I don’t have an interest in making anyone move their home. A 
judge would have the power to make him move his home, however that is not our intention. The person that 
made the complaint, who shall remain confidential, noticed it because it was so close to the road. 
 
Continued discussions.  
 
Allen Nicholls commented…tried to be prompt in letting him know before he poured concrete but here, we 
are. 
 
Rodney Lillard commented…someone not long ago bent over backwards to comply. He has a building permit 
for the home, correct? 
 
Allen Nicholls replied…yes. Complies to the side setback but not the front. 
 
Rodney Lillard questioned…Is there a meeting scheduled for March? 
 
Allen Nicholls replied…as this time there is no one on the schedule. Most likely won’t see everyone until April 
at the earliest. 
 
There were public or other comments. 
 



6 
 

Old Business   
 
None  
 
Adjournment 
 
Chairman Lillard asked if there was any further business for the board. There being none, Member Clatterbuck 
made a motion to adjourn the meeting. The motion was seconded by Member Wills. The motion was 
unanimously approved, the meeting ended at 7:35 PM. 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Chairman-Rodney Lillard 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 



1 
 

 
 

MADISON COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 
MADISON VIRGINIA 22727 

 
The Madison County Board of Zoning Appeals met on Tuesday, April 15, 2025, at 7:00 p.m., in the Madison 
County Administrative Auditorium, 414 N. Main Street in the Town of Madison, Virginia. The board members 
present were Chairman Rodney Lillard, Members Sara Wills and Roger Clatterbuck, Kyle Knight, Suzanne Long, 
alternate Jessica Davis, Zoning Administrator Allen Nicholls. Chairman Lillard called the meeting to order at 
7:00 PM.  
 
New Business  

Adoption of previous minutes from February 18, 2025 
 
Chairman Lillard stated that since minutes from the February 18, 2025 meeting were not included in the 
packet, their approval would be moved to the next meeting.  
 
Public Hearings  
 
(Case Number V-4-15-25) David Michaelson, on behalf of Sarah Dan LLC, has requested a variance from 
Madison County Zoning Ordinance, Appendix 1, Article 4-4-1 “Structures shall be located 50 feet or more from 
any street right-of-way which is 50 feet or greater in width, or 100 feet or more from the center line of any 
street right-of-way less than 50 feet in width.”. The applicant is requesting the setback be reduced from 50’ to 
32’. The purpose of the request is to facilitate a right-of-way for a proposed subdivision. The subject parcel is 
identified as Madison County tax map 50-60, is zoned A-1 (Agricultural), and contains 6.291 acres (GIS).   
 
Chairman Lillard read the case and invited the applicant to explain his request.  
 
Applicant, David Michaelson, explained that he is seeking the variance as a result of consideration of multiple 
options for development, and discussing the matter with county staff. When weighing whether a special use 
permit for a duplex or a variance for a subdivision would be a more appropriate option, he chose the variance 
in order to pursue an otherwise by-right subdivision and future use.  
 
David Michaelson explained the process he undertook to work with the adjoining neighbor to the south to 
utilize an existing easement, which ultimately proved unsuccessful. He further explained that an existing 
carport is the closest structure to the easement.  
 
Chairman Lillard clarified that access to the both the Applicant’s property and the adjoining property to the 
south shares a single entrance.  
 



2 
 

The applicant confirmed the entrance is shared and went on to state that he has not yet engaged the services 
of a soil scientist to establish the feasibility of relocating the drainfield.  
 
Chairman Lillard asked Allen Nicholls if there was anything to add.  
 
Allen Nicholls responded that there are two surveys in the packet for review. The second is older and was 
provided by a member of the public to illustrate the location of a spring. Allen Nicholls went on to state that 
when viewed wholistically, the proposal yields orderly development. It is essentially a by-right subdivision, and 
is appropriate. The applicant is aware that he will have to relocate the drainfield in order to subdivide. Health 
Department comments were delivered close to the meeting time, and are provided to Board review.  
 
Allen Nicholls stated that VDOT has a standing letter stating that they do not wish to provide commentary on 
variance requests. However, it is likely that work will be required to increase the capacity of the entrance, if a 
third lot were to be created that utilizes this entrance.  
 
Chairman Lillard clarified that the Planning Commission will not see a future subdivision application, and Allen 
Nicholls confirmed that this is a single lot subdivision, and can be administratively approved.  
 
Further discussion between Chairman Lillard, the applicant, and Allen Nicholls regarding the details of the site.  
 
Roger Clatterbuck asked clarifying questions regarding the entrance, and plans of future subdivision to the 
applicant.  
 
The applicant explained further site details, as well as clarified the location of a spring on the neighboring 
parcel to the north.  
 
Chairman Lillard asked the applicant about existing structures on the property. The applicant described the 
structures.  
 
Roger Clatterbuck clarified that the applicant plans to relocate the drainfield, and discussed potential options 
for future development.  
 
Further discussion continued regarding site details between Roger Clatterbuck, Suzanne Long, and the 
Applicant.  
 
Chairman Lillard stated that he regrets that the Board of Supervisors changed the policy and removed 
subdivision review from the Planning Commission for single-lot subdivision applications.  
 
Suzanne Long asked the applicant if the adjacent parcel to the west was improved with a residence. Discussion 
about the adjacent parcel followed.  
 
Sara Wills asked about the trees that provide a visual buffer between the subject property and the adjacent 
property to the south. Discussion followed.  
 



3 
 

Roger Clatterbuck asked the applicant what his hardship was.  
 
The applicant responded that the lot shape requires a variance to develop. The current plan is more 
conforming and less intrusive than the alternative of pursuing a special use permit for a duplex.  
 
Sara Wills asked about alternative methods of road installation. Discussion followed.  
 
Chairman Lillard opened the floor for public comment.  
 
William Hunt, an adjacent property owner, spoke in opposition to the application. Primary concerns revolved 
around the removal of trees on the applicant’s property. Mr. Hunt also objected to a future subdivision that 
would result in another home being constructed close to his home.  
 
With there being no further public comment, Chairman Lillard closed the floor for further comments.  
 
Chairman Lillard stated the only issue being considered is the setback issue. 
 
 Sara Wills made a motion to grant the variance. 
 
Suzanne Long seconded the motion. 
 
Aye: (5). Wills, Clatterbuck, Lillard, Long, Knight. Abstain: (0). Absent: (0). Nay: (0) 
 
Following the vote, the applicant addressed William Hunt and stated that he was willing to discuss the 
particulars of the site to come to an agreeable plan.  
 
Chairman Lillard addressed the Board and stated that the Board of Zoning Appeals does not have bylaws. He 
suggested the Board of Zoning Appeals take action regarding compensation. Discussion followed.  
 
Suzanne Long made a motion to set compensation for Board of Zoning Appeals members to be compensation 
$30 per meeting.  
 
Roger Clatterbuck seconded the motion.  
 
Aye: (5). Wills, Clatterbuck, Lillard, Long, Knight. Abstain: (0). Absent: (0). Nay: (0) 
 
Allen Nicholls shared information regarding the modification of SB974 that was recently signed by the 
governor.  
 
Roger Clatterbuck made a motion to adjourn the meeting 
 
Sara Wills seconded the motion.  
 
Aye: (5). Wills, Clatterbuck, Lillard, Long, Knight. Abstain: (0). Absent: (0). Nay: (0) 



4 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Chairman-Rodney Lillard 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 



 

 

To:   Madison County Board of Zoning Appeals 

From:   Allen Nicholls, Planning and Zoning Administrator 

Subject:            Robert K Swab Jr & Edith L Swab Variance Request 

Date:    May 20, 2025 

 

Summary of Request 

(Case Number V-5-20-25) Robert K Swab Jr & Edith L Swab, has requested a variance from 
Madison County Zoning Ordinance, Appendix 1, Article 4-4-1 “Structures shall be located 
50 feet or more from any street right-of-way which is 50 feet or greater in width, or 100 feet 
or more from the center line of any street right-of-way less than 50 feet in width.”. The 
applicant is requesting the setback be reduced from 100’ to 50’. The purpose of the request 
is to facilitate a new residence in a more desirable area of the subject property. The subject 
parcel is identified as Madison County tax map 38-20F, is zoned C-1 (Conservation), and 
contains 4.398 acres (survey).   

 

Items Required for Application 

Application – April 14, 2025 

Application Fee – $250 , received April 18, 2025 

Survey/Plat/Site Plan – GIS maps, Plat, and Site Plan are attached 

A copy of the current paid real estate taxes – Attached 

 

Agency Comments 

 Madison County Health Department – Requested April 18th, 2025 



 Virginia Department of Transportation – Standing email declining comment 

 Madison County Building Official – Requested April 18th, 2025 

 

 


































